

# HEPBURN SHIRE COUNCIL ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL PUBLIC MINUTES

Tuesday 29 April 2025

Council Chamber

24 Vincent Street Daylesford

6:00PM

A LIVE STREAM OF THE MEETING CAN BE VIEWED VIA COUNCIL'S YOUTUBE CHANNEL



# **MINUTES**

Tuesday 29 April 2025

**Council Chamber** 

24 Vincent Street Daylesford

Commencing at 6:00PM

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	ACI	KNOWLEDGEMENT OF TRADITIONAL OWNERS	.4
2	SAF	ETY ORIENTATION	.4
3	OPI	ENING OF MEETING	.4
4	APO	OLOGIES	.5
5	DE	CLARATIONS OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST	.5
6	CO	NFIRMATION OF MINUTES	.5
7	PUI	BLIC PARTICIPATION TIME	.7
	7.1	PETITIONS	.9
	7.2	REQUESTS TO ADDRESS COUNCIL	.9
	7.3	PUBLIC QUESTIONS	.0
8	OF	FICER REPORTS1	.7
	8.1	ONSITE WASTEWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN 2025-20291	.7
	8.2	QUARTERLY FINANCE REPORT - QUARTER 32	<u>'</u> 4
	8.3	DRAFT COUNCILLOR INTEGRITY POLICY AND INTERNAL RESOLUTION PROCEDURES	
			28

	8.4	CEO ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL ON THE ACTIVITIES AND PERFORMANCE OF COMMUNITY ASSET COMMITTEES 2024/2025	32
	8.5	REVISION OF INSTRUMENTS OF DELEGATION FROM COUNCIL TO THE CEO (S5), AND FROM COUNCIL TO COUNCIL STAFF (S6 AND S18)	43
	8.6	INSTRUMENTS OF APPOINTMENT TO AUTHORISED OFFICERS UNDER THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 & ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION ACT 2017	52
9	ITEI	MS OF URGENT BUSINESS	56
10	COI	UNCILLOR AND CEO REPORTS	.57
	10.1	MAYOR'S REPORT	57
	10.2	COUNCILLOR REPORTS	58
	10.3	CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT	64
11	l CLC	OSE OF MEETING	69

# **BRADLEY THOMAS**

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Tuesday 29 April 2025

#### **CONDUCTING HYBRID COUNCIL MEETINGS**

In the spirit of open, transparent and accountable governance, this meeting will be livestreamed on Council's YouTube page. The meeting will also be recorded and made available on Council's website as soon as practicable after the meeting.

Council's meeting will be conducted tonight in accordance with:

- The Local Government Act 2020
- The Minister's Good Practice Guideline MGPG-1: Virtual Meetings
- · Council's Governance Rules; and
- The Model Councillor Code of Conduct.

#### 1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TRADITIONAL OWNERS

Hepburn Shire Council acknowledges the Dja Dja Wurrung as the Traditional Owners of the lands and waters on which we live and work. On these lands, Djaara have performed age -old ceremonies of celebration, initiation and renewal. We recognise their resilience through dispossession and it is a testament to their continuing culture and tradition, which is strong and thriving.

We also acknowledge the neighbouring Traditional Owners, the Wurundjeri to our South East and the Wadawurrung to our South West and pay our respect to all Aboriginal peoples, their culture, and lore. We acknowledge their living culture and the unique role they play in the life of this region.

# 2 SAFETY ORIENTATION

Emergency exits and convenience facilities at the venue to be highlighted to members of the public in attendance.

# 3 OPENING OF MEETING

COUNCILLORS PRESENT: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey, Cr Brian Hood

OFFICERS PRESENT: Mr Bradley Thomas - Chief Executive Officer, Mr Bruce Lucas - Director Infrastructure and Delivery, Ms Brooke Holmes - Director Performance and Transformation, Mr Ron Torres - Director Development and Community, Mr Chris Whyte - Manager Technology and Transformation, Ms Rebecca Smith - Manager Governance and Risk

The meeting opened at 6:01pm.

# STATEMENT OF COMMITMENT

"WE THE COUNCILLORS OF HEPBURN SHIRE

DECLARE THAT WE WILL UNDERTAKE ON EVERY OCCASION

TO CARRY OUT OUR DUTIES IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE COMMUNITY

AND THAT OUR CONDUCT SHALL MAINTAIN THE STANDARDS OF THE CODE OF

GOOD GOVERNANCE

SO THAT WE MAY FAITHFULLY REPRESENT AND UPHOLD THE TRUST PLACED IN THIS COUNCIL BY THE PEOPLE OF HEPBURN SHIRE"

4	APOLOGIES
	Nil.
5	DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

# 6 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

Go to 00:03:45 in the meeting recording to view this item.

# **RECOMMENDATION**

That the Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 25 March 2025 and the Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council on 3 April 2025 (as previously circulated to Councillors) be confirmed.

#### **MOTION**

Nil.

That the Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 25 March 2025 and the Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council on 3 April 2025 (as previously circulated to Councillors) be confirmed.

Moved: Cr Brian Hood

**Seconded:** Cr Shirley Cornish

Carried

Voted for: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don

Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood

Voted against: Nil Abstained: Nil

# 7 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION TIME

Go to 00:04:25 in the meeting recording to view this item.

This part of the Ordinary Meeting of Council allows for the tabling of petitions by Councillors and Officers and 30 minutes for the purposes of:

- Tabling petitions
- Responding to questions from members of our community
- Members of the community to address Council

Community members are invited to be involved in public participation time in accordance with Council's Governance Rules.

Individuals may submit written questions or requests to address Council to the Chief Executive Officer by 10:00am the day before the Council Meeting.

Some questions of an operational nature may be responded to through usual administrative procedure. Separate forums and Council processes are provided for deputations or for making submissions to Council.

Questions received may be taken on notice but formal responses will be provided to the questioners directly. These responses will also be read out and included within the minutes of the next Ordinary Meeting of Council to make them publicly available to all.

#### **BEHAVIOUR AT COUNCIL MEETINGS**

Council supports a welcoming, respectful and safe environment for members of the community to participate at Council Meetings regarding issues that are important to them. Council's Governance Rules sets out guidelines for the Mayor, Councillors, and community members on public participation in meetings. It reinforces the value of diversity in thinking, while being respectful of differing views, and the rights and reputation of others.

Under the Governance Rules, members of the public present at a Council Meeting must not be disruptive during the meeting.

Respectful behaviour includes:

- Being courteous when addressing Council during public participation time and directing all comments through the Chair
- Being quiet during proceedings
- Being respectful towards others present and respecting their right to their own views

Inappropriate behaviour includes:

Interjecting or taking part in the debate

- Verbal abuse or harassment of a Councillor, member of staff, ratepayer or member of the public
- Threats of violence

# 7.1 PETITIONS

No petitions were tabled.

# 7.2 REQUESTS TO ADDRESS COUNCIL

Ms Carolyn Whitehead addressed Council in relation to the Onsite Wastewater Management Plan.

# 7.3 PUBLIC QUESTIONS

The CEO read questions received in accordance with Council's Governance Rules and the Mayor responded on behalf of Council.

# Question 1 - Cynthia Goudie

Why is Council continuing to talk about the redevelopment of Shire offices when there is clearly no funding to do so?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

Council has begun a project to assess the feasibility of maximising the community use of the Town Hall site, with an option to consolidate and upgrade the building so it could become more of a community hub.

The investigation would assess whether Daylesford Town Hall could be refurbished to include a library along with multi-purpose community spaces to cater for meetings, functions, performances and events.

Such a project would require many stages. These include (but are not limited to) architectural advice on the suitability of the site, community input, feasibility designs, concept designs, detailed designs and of course, funding.

Greater detail is available at our website <u>Daylesford Community Facilities</u> | Participate Hepburn

# Question 2 - Cynthia Goudie

Profit for the first quarter is \$10 million. Is this due to a 'go slow' approach in spending, and how does this justify a rate rise?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

The main consideration being that the full year of rates income is raised at the start of each financial year, and will reduce towards the end of the financial year. The proposed rate increase relates to the financial year 2025/26 subject to approval of a higher rate cap application of 7%, by the Essential Services Commission. If approved, this will be a permanent uplift of 7%, in addition to the 3% under the rate cap. Council also have a number of operational progress and will be completed by 30 June 2025, or the funds will be carried forward.

# Question 3 - Ken Warren

At the March meeting of Council I asked two separate questions relating to the Creswick Bike trail.

My first question related to the total amount that the project cost and the answer was as follows: "Total capital spend to date: \$8.63 million Funded by: State Government grants – \$2.56 million Borrowings as per 2023/24 adopted budget –

\$4.887 million Contributions Monetary – \$0.354 million Council Contribution – \$0.829 million".

My second question was: "What is the ongoing annual operating costs of the Creswick Bike Trail? The answer provided was: "The 2024/25 budget for trails maintenance is \$223K which includes two full time staff members responsible for auditing and maintaining the trails and a minor allocation for materials and specialist contractor works."

Given that the amount of \$4.887m has been provided by a loan, what is the amount of interest payable annually on this loan and why wasn't the interest cost added to the \$223k above?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

The interest payable for the approved loan of \$5.887m as per the 2023/2024 adopted budget, equates to \$1.7m across a 10-year period.

We don't allocate borrowing costs directly to services or projects, and this is consistent with financial practices in Local Government.

# Question 4 - Ken Warren

Given the nature of this bike trail and the inherent risks of accidents by young and old, testing themselves against the laws of nature, the project should have adequate cover for such high-risk use. What are the insurance costs that should also be added to the \$223k above?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

Council maintains both asset and Public Liability coverage for the trail network. The costs of insurance are invoiced for the entirety of Council operations, so costings for each individual parcel of land is not available.

Mountain biking is acknowledged as a dynamic activity that involves inherent risks for participants and with no international or Australian standards that can be applied to MTB infrastructure, riders on all mountain bike facilities across the country understand the risks they are accepting.

#### Question 5 – Heather Mutimer

There does not appear to be any payments shown in the 'Comprehensive Income Statement for the period ended 31 March 2025' for rent or lease expenditure for the council offices at 24 Vincent Street.

Question: How much is the monthly rent and where is it shown in the Income Statement I refer to?

#### Response – Mayor Don Henderson

The monthly rent is confidential information given the commercial arrangements.

The figure is allocated to the materials and services line item.

#### **Question 6 – Heather Mutimer**

At the May 2024 ordinary meeting of Council a motion was passed which awarded a contract to K20 Architecture for \$146,848 excl of GST for the undertaking of Stage 1 of the Daylesford Community Facilities Project. This project is also now referred to as the Daylesford Town Hall Hub Project.

The officers report states that: The project is to be delivered across three stages; Stage 1 – Feasibility and Schematic Design, Stage 2 – Detailed Design, and Stage 3 – Construction Administration. The delivery of Stages 2 and 3 are subject to both the outcome of Stage 1 and future project funding. The anticipated cost to deliver the entire contract (including construction stage involvement) will be in the order of \$715,000 excl. GST. The report also states that: "Stage 1 of the project is being delivered with the endorsed 2023/2024 project budget of \$160,000 (exc GST) and will draw on the proposed 2024/2025 budget allocation".

I understand the 2024/2025 budget allocation is \$300,000.00 (\$200k cash \$100k borrowings).

According to the latest financials at 31/3/2025 \$109,873.00 has been spent to date, with a full year forecast of \$209,000.00.

It is unclear if the forecast expenditure is all for Stage 1 (Feasibility and Schematic Design).

My question is: Has Council already entered into an arrangement with the architect to proceed with Stage 2 of the project (Detailed Design)?

# Response - Mayor Don Henderson

No Council has not entered into a contract arrangement for stage 2 works.

Stage one works for the project are progressing well with the support of the community based Project Advisory Group. This includes the Feasibility and Schematic design. Stage 2 – Detailed design will be subject to confirming funding arrangements and Council approval to proceed.

#### Question 7 – Jeff Millet

Ratepayers acknowledge that the Daylesford Town Hall is a valuable community asset. However, in Council's current & foreseeable financial climate, it makes little sense to be spending big and making financial decisions about a project that is many years away, at best. A project without the necessary funding.

How has it been decided within the councillor group that this project is more important than our roads being fixed, while ratepayers are about to be slugged with a 10% increase and a loss of other important services?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

Council has not decided the project is more important than roads, and continues with significant investment in roads.

Such a project would require many stages. These include (but are not limited to) architectural advice on the suitability of the site, community input, feasibility designs, concept designs, detailed designs and of course, funding.

Greater detail is available at our website <u>Daylesford Community Facilities</u> | Participate Hepburn

# Question 8 – Jeff Millet

The Mayor of Hobson's Bay Council has called on the Attorney General for the Rex Report to be fully released for complete transparency.

What measures and/or requests has our Mayor undertaken in recent times to ensure that the people of Hepburn can finally read the full LGI Rex Report?

# Response - Mayor Don Henderson

Council has, on multiple occasions, requested the timely release of a report.

We have subsequently written to the Local Government Inspectorate to request release of the report, and an investigation into how a draft confidential report was leaked.

Please see more details in our media statement – <u>Leaked report on Hepburn Hub at</u> The Rex Project Hepburn Shire Council

# Question 9 - Carolyn Whitehead

Regarding the Onsite Wastewater Management Plan, on the Agenda for approval at tonight's Council Meeting, my question relates to the fact that, to my knowledge, and I have been paying close attention on this topic, there has been no community engagement on the topic.

Even if this topic was evaluated as "Low" on Council's Community Engagement Policy's Engagement Matrix, at a minimum, Council could have communicated this Plan via "...Council's Facebook page, newsletters, emails, letters or phone calls....", per the Policy.

Does Council accept that, in presenting a finalised policy for approval before engaging with the community, it risks undermining its own Community Engagement Policy?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

Council's Onsite Wastewater Management Plan (OWMP) is an operational document designed to replace an outdated local law and outdated Plan. It was developed within a specific regulatory and compliance framework, aligning with statutory obligations under the *Environment Protection Act 2017* and associated regulations.

The OWMP supports Council's decision-making for onsite wastewater management systems compliance within the shire. All compliance decisions are made in accordance with statutory obligations, other agency guidance, and formal referral to agencies.

Council officers incorporated feedback from public agencies from the EPA, DEECA, and Water Authorities. Within the regulatory framework, any concerns about wastewater can be raised as an objection to a planning permit, including the ability to challenge any council decision at VCAT. The appeal process through VCAT is available to both permit applicants and objectors.

Given its operational nature and limited discretionary content, the Plan was correctly assessed and appropriately classified as a low-impact matter, under Council's Community Engagement Policy. Should Council resolve to adopt the Plan tonight, Council will communicate Council's decision to the Hepburn Shire community, in accordance with the Community Engagement Policy.

# Question 10 - Carolyn Whitehead

Page 2 of the Onsite Wastewater Management Plan says Authorisation occurred on 27 November 2024 by Ron Torres, Director Development and Community, and Bradley Thomas, Chief Executive Officer, there is no signature. Can you please confirm that these two executives 'signed off' on this new Plan?

# Response - Mayor Don Henderson

Yes. I can confirm this operational plan has gone through the necessary approvals from the Executive Leadership Team (ELT).

# Question 11 – Benny Pettersson

Why has Council not disclosed the changes to the CEO's delegated authority for loan borrowings, as noted in the May 2024 Council Meeting minutes, despite the 2023/2024 financial statements now being released?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

There was no change made to the CEOs overall delegation in relation to loan borrowings. Under the Instrument of Delegation from Council to the CEO (s5), available on Council's <u>website</u>, the power to approve the borrowing of money is not delegated and requires a resolution of Council.

The Council resolution at the 21 May 2024 Confidential Council Meeting, allowed the CEO to take out a single loan of \$5.887 million over 10 years. This loan amount was included in the 2023/2024 Budget as required by the *Local Government Act 2020*. The repayment of this loan is reported on in the quarterly finance statements under Borrowings.

# Question 12 – Benny Pettersson

In light of Council's decision to disable public comments on its official Facebook page, what specific policies or protocols does Council have in place to prevent the selective removal or suppression of public dialogue on both official and councillor-operated platforms?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

The decision is in line with Council's <u>Communications and Social Media Policy</u>, which states that: "Council reserves the right to turn off comments on posts".

The decision was made to protect the health and safety of staff and Councillors, given the inappropriate nature of many comments, and had become operationally unwieldy to monitor and remove. We have decided to not allow any comments, so as to not discriminate against any particular person.

Any individual Councillor Facebook pages are established and monitored by Councillors themselves.

# Question 13 - Debora Semple

In the mandated requirement for a Land Capability Assessment (LCA) (in the Onsite Wastewater Management Plan), I cannot see where water table depth is factored in. If this is the case, how will this Plan ensure septic tanks, or any kind of water purification system are not placed in locations with high water tables?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

The Onsite Wastewater Management Plan (OWMP) requires an LCA for any new system. Page 69 of the Plan details this mandatory requirement. Each application must include a detailed LCA that is prepared by a qualified Land Capability Assessor. The assessors look at key site conditions including soil, slope, and water table depth. Groundwater is a site feature that must be thoroughly assessed. This ensures that risks associated with high water tables — or other limiting site conditions — are properly identified, addressed, and managed before any system is approved. If groundwater is too close to the surface, the qualified assessor will report that and Council officers won't approve a septic system unless it's safe and suitable.

# Question 14 - Debora Semple

Does this (Onsite Wastewater Management) Plan direct Council to discourage growth on land with a high-water table, where there is no reticulated sewerage?

# Response – Mayor Don Henderson

Council's approach is to ensure that any development on land without reticulated sewerage is managed to protect public health and the environment, with appropriate safeguards in place. Every application and site is unique and needs to be assessed on its own individual merits. The mandatory requirement for a site-specific Land Capability Assessment (refer to page 69 of the Plan), ensures proper

consideration of potential site constraints. The assessment process also includes a water authority review and an environmental health officer review. If the assessment shows a high-water table or other insurmountable site constraints, making the site unsuitable for septic systems, development won't be approved.

#### **8 OFFICER REPORTS**

# 8.1 ONSITE WASTEWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN 2025-2029

Go to 00:32:30 in the meeting recording to view this item.

#### **DIRECTOR DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY**

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Community Safety, I Khalid Wright have no interests to disclose in this report.

#### **ATTACHMENTS**

1. 2025 2029 Hepburn Shire Council Onsite Wastewater Management Plan V1 [8.1.1 - 78 pages]

#### OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- Notes that Council has statutory responsibilities to manage the use and installation of onsite wastewater management systems, and that Council plays a key role in addressing potential risks to public health and the environment that result from treatment and disposal of wastewater;
- 2. Notes the expiry of Local Law No. 3: Operation and Maintenance of Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems (April 2015), and that the state regulatory framework around onsite wastewater management has significantly changed with the introduction of updates to the EPA Act 2017 and the new provision known as the General Environmental Duty (GED). This new regulatory framework removes the need for the continuation of a separate local law; and,
- 3. Adopts the Onsite Wastewater Management Plan 2025-2029 (Attachment 1).

# **MOTION**

That Council:

- Notes that Council has statutory responsibilities to manage the use and installation of onsite wastewater management systems, and that Council plays a key role in addressing potential risks to public health and the environment that result from treatment and disposal of wastewater;
- 2. Notes the expiry of Local Law No. 3: Operation and Maintenance of Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems (April 2015), and that the state regulatory framework around onsite wastewater management has significantly changed with the introduction of updates to the EPA Act 2017 and the new provision

known as the General Environmental Duty (GED). This new regulatory framework removes the need for the continuation of a separate local law; and,

3. Adopts the Onsite Wastewater Management Plan 2025-2029 (Attachment 1).

**Moved:** Cr Pat Hockey Cr Lesley Hewitt proposed an amendment to the motion. This was accepted by Cr Pat Hockey.

# **MOTION**

#### That Council:

- 1. Notes that Council has statutory responsibilities to manage the use and installation of onsite wastewater management systems, and that Council plays a key role in addressing potential risks to public health and the environment that result from treatment and disposal of wastewater;
- 2. Notes the expiry of Local Law No. 3: Operation and Maintenance of Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems (April 2015), and that the state regulatory framework around onsite wastewater management has significantly changed with the introduction of updates to the EPA Act 2017 and the new provision known as the General Environmental Duty (GED). This new regulatory framework removes the need for the continuation of a separate local law; and,
- 3. Adopts the Onsite Wastewater Management Plan 2025-2029 (Attachment 1).
- 4. Authorises the CEO to make administrative updates to the Onsite Wastewater Management Plan as required.

Moved: Cr Pat Hockey Seconded: Cr Lesley Hewitt

**Carried** 

Voted for: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don Henderson, Cr

Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood **Voted against:** Cr Tim Drylie

Abstained: Nil

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Council has statutory responsibilities to administer the use and installation of onsite wastewater management systems within the municipality. Council's 2014 Domestic Wastewater Management Plan (DWMP) has been in effect since 2014. Local Law No. 3 – Operation and Maintenance of Onsite Wastewater was adopted in 2015 to support the 2014 DWMP. It expires in April 2025, after ten years of operation.

Over the last ten years, there have been significant updates in legislation and guidelines which make the 2014 Plan and Local Law No 3 unsuitable for Council's current responsibilities under the *Environment Protection Act 2017* (*EPA Act 2017*) which came into effect in July 2021, and the new provision known as the GED. This provides the legislative basis for the 2025-2029 Onsite Wastewater Management Plan (OWMP), removing the need for a separate local law.

Council's 2025-2029 OWMP supersedes the 2014 DWMP. The new plan covers Council's obligations introduced under new obligations introduced under the *EPA Act 2017* and the GED. The new OWMP is Council's second plan to manage wastewater and strengthens Council's ability to protect the natural environment, community health, social wellbeing and economic stability against the risks posed by wastewater.

The attached OWMP is finalised following stakeholder feedback and engagement and is ready for adoption to guide and support the management of onsite wastewater management in Hepburn Shire.

#### **BACKGROUND**

Council's last DWMP was developed in 2014, over ten years ago. Local Law No. 3 is expiring in April 2025 and is no longer required to manage wastewater in the Shire.

Under the previous provisions of the State Environment Protection Policy (SEPP), councils were required to develop and implement a DWMP and had a responsibility to assess and report on the progress of the plan every three years.

The most recent changes to the *EPA Act 2017* have included removal of the SEPP, which has been replaced in 2024 by the Obligations for Managers of Land or Infrastructure (OMLI). These obligations include a requirement for councils to develop and publish an OWMP that identifies, assesses and addresses the risks of harm to human health and environment from wastewater systems. This provides the legislative basis for the 2025-2029 OWMP, removing the need for a separate local law.

#### **KEY ISSUES**

• The Draft 2025-2029 OWMP meets current legislative obligations and establishes a framework for consistent, risk-based decision making.

- A Council adopted OWMP will enable water authorities to relax the default 1:40 hectare dwelling density rule. If an OWMP is not adopted by Council, this conservatively low dwelling density significantly limits any future development in existing unsewered townships and rural living areas.
- The OWMP will build community awareness of the risks associated with onsite wastewater and understanding of their obligations under the GED.
- There is a requirement set out in the Planning permit applications in special water supply catchment areas guidelines for Councils to protect via an OWMP.

Hepburn Shire Council is one of the few Local Government Areas that has the entire municipality within declared special water supply catchments. This means all Council decisions regarding permits, or compliance of existing Onsite Wastewater Management Systems (OWMS) must be thoroughly assessed, as the risk to the health of the community and environment are elevated.

Council has a key role in addressing potential risks to public health and the environment that result from treatment and disposal of wastewater. Hepburn's OWMP highlights prevention and mitigation activities to reduce the likelihood or to minimise the consequences of negative environmental and health outcomes that may occur in the area.

The 2025-2029 OWMP bridges the gap between the old DWMP and Council's wastewater management obligations under new legislation and risk assessment framework. The OWMP, in combination with the *EPA Act 2017* and GED, replace Local Law No. 3.

The *EPA Act 2017* came into effect on 1 July 2021 and introduced the GED, which changed how EPA will regulate pollution, waste, and contamination in Victoria. These new environment protection laws, and supporting regulations, focus on preventing waste and pollution impacts, rather than managing impacts after they have occurred.

The GED focuses on preventing harm from waste and pollution rather than managing impacts after harm has already occurred. To ensure legislative compliance and that its content is current, the OWMP must be reviewed and updated at least every five years. The 2024-2029 plan therefore has a review date of 2029.

Council has a statutory responsibility to administer the use and installation of onsite wastewater management systems within the Shire. It must also assess the risks and identify strategies to manage these systems, via an OWMP.

Council's enforcement and continued review of existing policies and legislation as well as engaging a partnership approach with various agencies responsible for wastewater activities throughout the community combine to ensure that all measures possible are addressed to reduce the likelihood of contamination caused by poor wastewater practices.

While focus will remain on educating the community on best practice management on OWMS enforcement (where necessary) will support risk reduction to the wider community and ensure compliance.

Whilst Council has the key statutory responsibility for overseeing the management of OWMS, the following stakeholders were also important in the preparation and implementation of the OWMP:

- Goulburn Murray Water (GMW)
- Central Highlands Water (CHW)
- Coliban Water
- Victorian Environmental Protection Authority (EPA)
- Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP)
- Department of Health (DH)
- Owners and operators of OWMS
- Plumbers and installers of OWMS
- Developers and land capability assessors
- Neighbouring Councils.

#### **COUNCIL POLICY AND LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS**

#### Council Plan 2021-2025

A resilient, sustainable and protected environment

- 1.2 Prioritise environmental management, protection and regeneration.
- 1.4 Development meaningful policies and strategic partnerships that link sustainability and public health
- 1.5 Protect and regenerate the natural resources of the Shire including soils, water and ecological systems from both current and future threats

Council's OWMP applies to OWMS that process less than 5,000 litres of wastewater on any given day. The OWMP considers and applies the following acts, regulations and Council Plans and Strategies:

#### Legislation

- Building Act 1993 and Regulations 2018
- Catchment and Land Protection Act 1994
- Environment Protection Act 2017 and Regulations 2021
- Infringements Act 2006 and Regulations 2015
- Local Government Act 2020
- Planning and Environment Act 1987
- Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 and Regulations 2019
- Safe Drinking Water Act 2003 and Regulations 2015
- Subdivisions Act 1988

Water Act 2020

Council Plans and Strategies

- Hepburn Shire Council Planning Scheme
- Hepburn Shire Council, Council Plan 2021 2025
- Future Hepburn: Structure Plans and Rural Strategy

# FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Council applied for and received a \$20,000 grant to fund the development and implementation of the OWMP.

The maintenance and implementation of actions included in the OWMP will be delivered by Environmental Health Officers (EHOs) in their normal course of work.

#### **COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT**

There are no community or stakeholder engagement implications associated with this report. This operational plan provides the strategic document for Council Authorised Officers to apply the relevant legislation when making decisions relating to wastewater treatment and management.

The OWMP was drafted in collaboration with all responsible regulatory authorities, including DEECA, Environment Protection Authority (EPA), Central Highlands Rural Water, and Coliban Water. The Water Authorities are aware of the revocation of Local Law No. 3 and adoption of the OWMP.

Local Law No. 3 expires in April 2025. Local Laws automatically 'sunset' and are revoked ten years after their making. The OWMP incorporates the regulation of the operation and management of Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems and reflects updated changes in legislation and regulations governing onsite wastewater, removing the need for Local Law No. 3.

#### RISK AND GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

The Onsite Wastewater Management Plan (OWMP) provides the strategic framework for Council's Authorised Officers (AOs) when considering and applying decisions related to onsite wastewater management systems.

The OWMP aims to clarify Council's responsibilities for overseeing the management and installation of OWMS and set out an approach to meet these responsibilities. The OWMP applies a risk-based approach and considers the management of:

- Existing OWMS in unsewered areas
- Future OWMS in unsewered areas
- OWMS in sewered areas
- Risk by township and locality
- OWMS in potable supply catchments

There are several risks associated with onsite wastewater management systems that impact public health and environmental health.

This includes permits for new developments, subdivisions and building alterations under the *Planning and Environment Act 1987*. The OWMP has been identified as essential through the *obligations of managers of land or infrastructure* which was gazetted in May 2024 and through this, water authorities can choose to not relax the dwelling density of 1 dwelling per 40 hectares if they determine Council does not have an adequate onsite wastewater management plan.

For a Water Authority to not relax the dwelling density there would be detrimental implications for growth and development within Hepburn Shire.

#### **ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY**

There are sustainability implications associated with this report. The core of the OWMP is built around the GED and the responsibilities of Council and community.

Hepburn Shire Council is one of the few Local Government Areas that has the entire municipality within declared special water supply catchments. This means all Council decisions regarding permits, or compliance of existing OWMS must be thoroughly assessed, as the risk to the health of the community and environment are elevated.

The Environmental Significant Overlay (ESO) aims to protect water catchments and therefore drinking water for all in Hepburn.

Due to the entire municipality being within a declared water supply catchment an ESO 1 has been applied to all land. The objective of the ESO1 is to ensure all development is undertaken in a manner that protects, restores and enhances natural resources and seeks to eliminate detrimental impacts on the quality and quantity of water in the catchment, to ensure the long-term plentiful supply of quality water.

The ESO1 results in all Planning Permits being referred to the relevant water authorities to provide comments and conditions.

ESO2 is applied in areas of the Shire that have mineral springs. The aim of the ESO2 is to protect the mineral springs, their aquifers and their environs, private domestic bores and water bores that provide town water supply from the impacts of effluent and drainage.

# **GENDER IMPACT ASSESSMENT**

There are no gender equity implications associated with this report.

# 8.2 QUARTERLY FINANCE REPORT - QUARTER 3

Go to 01:01:32 in the meeting recording to view this item.

# **DIRECTOR PERFORMANCE AND TRANSFORMATION**

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Financial Services, I Natalie Martin have no interests to disclose in this report.

#### **ATTACHMENTS**

- 1. Financial Report for the Period Ending 31 March 2025 [8.2.1 27 pages]
- 2. Capital Projects YTD to 31 March 2025 [8.2.2 5 pages]
- 3. Special Operating Projects YTD to 31 March 2025 [8.2.3 5 pages]

#### OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION

#### That Council:

- 1. Notes the financial position and performance for the nine months ending 31 March 2025, including the special and capital projects; and,
- 2. Approves the forecast adjustments to the 2024/2025 amended Budget, noting the favourable cash position as detailed in the report.

#### **MOTION**

# That Council:

- 1. Notes the financial position and performance for the nine months ending 31 March 2025, including the special and capital projects; and,
- 2. Approves the forecast adjustments to the 2024/2025 amended Budget, noting the favourable cash position as detailed in the report.

Moved: Cr Tony Clark Seconded: Cr Brian Hood

**Carried** 

Voted for: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don

Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood

Voted against: Nil Abstained: Nil

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The March 2025 Quarterly Finance Report outlines the financial results for the nine months ending 31 March 2025, along with a comparison to the amended budget adopted by Council (inclusive of carry forwards from 2023/2024 to complete projects).

It includes a summary of Council's financial performance and position for the 2024/2025 financial year up until 31 March 2025, and an update on each special and capital project as at 31 March 2025.

The financial position overall is materially on track to the amended budget with no major items for concern in the current financial year.

The current financial position needs to be read in the context of Council's Financial Plan contained within the 2024/2025 Budget, and the adopted Financial Vision (10 September 2024).

A further section in the report details forecast adjustments to the 2024/2025 amended budget with commentary for noting that has a positive impact on the cash position for Council.

#### **BACKGROUND**

This report provides information on Council's financial performance for the period 1 July 2024 to 31 March 2025 and compares the Income Statement to the amended budget, the Balance Sheet and Statement of Cash Flows to the prior year.

The results in the nine months of the financial year are impacted by current cost inflations on operational costs that will be monitored throughout the 2024/2025 financial year with deviations from budget (if applicable) reflected in future reports.

The March 2025 Quarterly Finance Report along with the special operating and capital project reports have been prepared in comparison to the amended budget being the original adopted budget and carry-forward budget that was adopted at the Ordinary Meeting of Council on 16 September 2024.

# **KEY ISSUES**

The financial report and attachments provide a comprehensive overview of Council's financial performance and current financial state, for the nine-month period of the 2024/2025 financial year up until 31 March 2025, and an update on the status and progress of each special and capital project. The financial position overall is materially on track to the amended budget with no major items for concern in the current financial year.

The main items to note at the end of Quarter 3, with further details and explanation provided in the attached report are:

- The operating surplus for the nine months ending 31 March 2025 was \$10.36 million. This is \$4.52 million (or 43%) favourable to the amended budgeted surplus of \$5.84 million. This is primarily driven by two areas:
- Materials and Services expenditure budget being favourable by \$2.8
  million. This reflects deliberate efforts by departments to yield savings
  with \$2 million of this being attributable to savings on contractor and

- consultant payments, and \$0.7 million in general materials and consumables.
- Operating grants are favourable by \$0.9 million primarily due to the provision of 3 grants received that were not budgeted for.
- Year-to-date Capital works expenditure for the nine months ending 31 March 2025 was \$5.3 million, which is 30% of the \$17.79 million amended budget. Based on the year-to-date and anticipated 2024/25 expenditure, indicatively 68% of the capital program expenditure will be realised this financial year and 32% of funds will be proposed as carried forward into 2025/2026.
- Cash holdings as at 31 March 2025 are \$9.5 million, which is \$1.2 million higher than the same time last year, primarily due to the higher costs in the previous financial year associated with expenditure on capital works, special projects and storm recovery.

Council officers will remain flexible and agile in the management of their forecasts while responding in the best interests of the community and will fully update Councillors with any material items.

# Proposed 2024/2025 Forecast Adjustments

As part of the continual review of the current income and expenditures for the 2024/2025 financial year, the following items have been identified that are impacting positively on Council's cash position:

- Recovery of income from the October 2022 storms that was unbudgeted in 2024/2025 resulting in a positive impact of \$370k to cash.
- Increase in the return on interest income from investments resulting in a positive impact of \$100k to cash.
- Forecast reduction of \$50k to corporate training and development expenditure in 2024/2025.
- Favourable movement in income budget adjustments of \$11k as per Quarter 2 Finance Report.

The adopted 2024/2025 budget noted an unrestricted cash position of \$295k that was subsequently adjusted downwards by \$49k to \$246k based on the finishing position of 2023/2024, carry forwards and adjustments.

With the above forecast adjustments, the revised unrestricted cash position for 2024/2025 is forecast as a favourable \$777k by 30 June 2025.

#### **COUNCIL POLICY AND LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS**

#### **Council Plan 2021-2025**

A dynamic and responsive Council

5.3 A sustainable and agile organisation with strong corporate governance that supports excellent operations

# **FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS**

This report and associated attachments provide the opportunity for review of Council's financial position and forecasts.

#### **COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT**

There are no community or stakeholder engagement implications associated with this report.

# **RISK AND GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS**

There are no risk implications associated with this report, and it has been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

#### **ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY**

There are no sustainability implications associated with this report.

#### **GENDER IMPACT ASSESSMENT**

There are no gender equity implications associated with this report.

# 8.3 DRAFT COUNCILLOR INTEGRITY POLICY AND INTERNAL RESOLUTION PROCEDURES

Go to 01:10:00 in the meeting recording to view this item.

# **DIRECTOR PERFORMANCE AND TRANSFORMATION**

In providing this advice to Council as the Coordinator Governance, I Dannielle Kraak have no interests to disclose in this report.

#### **ATTACHMENTS**

Policy 97(C) - Councillor Integrity Policy and Internal Resolution Procedures
 [8.3.1 - 22 pages]

#### OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- 1. Adopts the Draft 97 (C) Councillor Integrity Policy;
- 2. Authorises officers to make administrative amendments to the policy in line with legislative changes; and,
- 3. Revokes Policy 47 (C) Internal Resolution Procedures, in which has been superseded by the Model Councillor Code of Conduct.

# **MOTION**

#### That Council:

- 1. Adopts the Draft 97 (C) Councillor Integrity Policy;
- 2. Authorises officers to make administrative amendments to the policy in line with legislative changes; and,
- 3. Revokes Policy 47 (C) Internal Resolution Procedures, in which has been superseded by the Model Councillor Code of Conduct.

**Moved:** Cr Lesley Hewitt **Seconded:** Cr Brian Hood

Carried

Voted for: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don

Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood

Voted against: Nil Abstained: Nil

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The Model Councillor Code of Conduct came into force on 26 October 2024, superseding the former Hepburn Shire Council Councillor Code of Conduct.

While the Model Code cannot be changed or amended, Council is permitted to develop policies and procedures to complement the Model Code. This Policy seeks to provide additional guidance to Councillors and recommend additional conduct requirements over and above those required under the Model Code.

The Policy also includes the Internal Resolution Procedures, which Council is required by the *Local Government Act 2020* (the Act) to adopt no later than 1 July 2025.

#### **BACKGROUND**

On 25 June 2024, the Local Government Amendment (Governance and Integrity) Act 2024 (the Amendment Act) was given Royal Assent. Included in the Amendment Act was the Model Councillor Code of Conduct, and the requirement for Councils to adopt an internal resolution procedure that may be followed by Councillors to manage alleged breaches of the Model Councillor Code of Conduct and other disputes.

Local Government Victoria has also published a guidance document in relation to the Model Councillor Code of Conduct, which is available on their website.

Previously, Councils were able to develop their own Councillor Code of Conduct and the Standards of Conduct. The Model Code captures the overarching legislation requirements, but has limited details regarding internal resolution processes, and any other standards or protocols Councillors may wish to adhere to as elected representatives.

Council has developed the Councillor Integrity Policy, including the internal resolution procedure, to provide additional guidance to Councillors regarding their roles and responsibilities, and carry forward additional standards which were included in the superseded Code of Conduct.

The Policy is aimed to 'bridge the gap' between the Model Code and our former code, incorporating Councillors' vision of what standards they would like to uphold whilst representing the community.

#### **KEY ISSUES**

The former Councillor Code of Conduct has been used as a foundation for this Policy. Sections of the former Code of Conduct have been removed where they have been superseded by the Model Code or are already reflected in the *Guidance on the Model Councillor Code of Conduct* published by Local Government Victoria, or the Act or Regulations.

# **Councillor Integrity Policy**

Only the Internal Resolution Procedures section (Part 7) of this Policy are required under legislation. The remaining sections have been included to provide guidance to Councillors, and provide a central, overarching document which clarifies those policies and procedures which apply to Councillors in the performance of their roles.

The sections in relation to *Confidential Information* and *Social Media* are not mandated, but there is a standing recommendation from Local Government Victoria that Council provide guidance to Councillors in these areas.

The Policy also includes a section in relation to land use planning interactions with applicants, objectors and other parties. This section was adopted by Council in October 2023 following a <u>report from the Local Government Inspectorate</u> regarding Councillor interactions with developers. The report included five recommendations:

- 1. Councillors should avoid comment before a decision;
- 2. Councillors should avoid meeting developers one-on-one;
- 3. Councillors should avoid accepting gifts and hospitality from developers;
- 4. Councils should create a policy to guide Councillor interactions with developers; and
- 5. Councils should keep a register of Councillor interactions with developers.

These recommendations have not yet been incorporated into the Act or Regulations.

# Internal Resolution Procedures (Prescribed Procedures under s140 of the Act)

Under s140 of the Act, Council is required to adopt Internal Resolution Procedures (or Prescribed Procedures) by 1 July 2025. <u>Schedule 1A of the Local Government (Governance and Integrity) Regulations</u> steps out what must be included in the Procedures.

The Procedures in this Policy (Part 7) have been developed based on legal advice and advice from Local Government Victoria.

Officers have also included the following sections:

- The external mediation process from the former code at item 7.5, with amendments for the revised Act and Regulations:
   Note: Legal advice cautioned that mediation can be lengthy and expensive, is voluntary, and the outcomes of this kind of meditation are not binding.
- A reference to the Internal Arbitration section at 7.7 to include the process enshrined in the Act:

Note: Legal advice noted that this section is subject to the requirements of the Act and the Principal Councillor Conduct Registrar, so if it is to be included, it will need to be amended as these requirements change. This has also been noted in the Officer Recommendation.

#### **COUNCIL POLICY AND LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS**

#### Council Plan 2021-2025

A dynamic and responsive Council

5.3 A sustainable and agile organisation with strong corporate governance that supports excellent operations

Local Government Act 2020

Local Government (Governance and Integrity) Regulations 2020

#### FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications associated with this report. Costs associated with resolving disputes and alleged breaches of the Model Code are considered in Council's annual budget process.

#### **COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT**

There are no community or stakeholder engagement implications associated with this report.

#### RISK AND GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

In accordance with s140 of the *Local Government Act 2020* and schedule 12A of the *Local Government (Governance and Integrity) Regulations 2020*, Council is required to adopt an internal resolution procedure by the 1 July 2025. Failure to do so would result in Council being non-compliant with legislative requirements.

The remaining sections of the Policy are not legislated, and are included for clarity and to support Councillors in their roles.

# **ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY**

There are no sustainability implications associated with this report.

#### **GENDER IMPACT ASSESSMENT**

There are no gender equity implications associated with this report.

# 8.4 CEO ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL ON THE ACTIVITIES AND PERFORMANCE OF COMMUNITY ASSET COMMITTEES 2024/2025

Go to 01:20:00 in the meeting recording to view this item.

#### CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In providing this advice to Council as the Governance Advisor, I Catherine Nurse have no interests to disclose in this report

#### **ATTACHMENTS**

- 1. CONFIDENTIAL Creswick Museum Community Asset Committee Annual Report to Council [8.4.1 6 pages]
- 2. CONFIDENTIAL Dean Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee Annual Report to Council [8.4.2 6 pages]
- 3. CONFIDENTIAL Lee Medlyn Home of Bottles Community Asset Committee Annual Report to Council [8.4.3 8 pages]
- 4. CONFIDENTIAL Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee Annual Report to Council [8.4.4 7 pages]
- 5. CONFIDENTIAL Lyonville Hall Community Asset Committee Annual Report to Council [8.4.5 7 pages]
- 6. CONFIDENTIAL Drummond Hall Community Asset Committee Annual Report to Council [8.4.6 7 pages]

#### OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- Receives and notes the report on the operations of Council's Community Asset Committees (CACs) as required in line with obligations set out in Local Government Act 2020; and
- 2. Thanks Committee members for their efforts and achievements throughout the year.

#### **MOTION**

That Council:

- Receives and notes the report on the operations of Council's Community Asset Committees (CACs) as required in line with obligations set out in Local Government Act 2020; and
- 2. Thanks Committee members for their efforts and achievements throughout the year.

**Moved:** Cr Lesley Hewitt

Seconded: Cr Tim Drylie

**Carried** 

Voted for: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don

Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood

Voted against: Nil Abstained: Nil

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Under the *Local Government Act 2020*, the CEO is required to submit a report to Council each year on the activities and performance of Council's six Community Asset Committees.

The report has been prepared in conjunction with the Committees, and reflects their achievements over the last 12 months, and the challenges they are facing.

#### **BACKGROUND**

A community asset committee is a committee established by Council, with members appointed by the CEO, for the purposes of managing a community asset in a municipal district (s65(2)).

Council has six Community Asset Committees:

- Creswick Museum Community Asset Committee
- Dean Recreation Reserve and Tennis Courts Community Asset Committee
- Drummond Hall and Tennis Courts Community Asset Committee
- Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee
- Lee Medlyn Home of Bottles Community Asset Committee
- Lyonville Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee

# **KEY ISSUES**

This report covers the February 2024 – January 2025 period.

# **Creswick Museum Community Asset Committee**

Purpose of the Committee

The Committee has operational oversight of the Creswick Museum, the former Infant Welfare Centre, Cambridge Street, Creswick and the Museum Collection including, but not limited to, the following:

- Dr. E.J. Semmens Collection;
- Lindsay Family Collection;

- T.G. Moyle Collection;
- W. Tibbits Collection;
- Victor Litherland Collection;
- Creswick Council Chamber Collection;
- H.H. Pearce Collection;
- Sir Alexander and Lady Peacock Collection;
- H. Burkitt Collection;
- The New Australasian No. 2 Mine Disaster Collection;
- Alexander T Evans Collection;
- Jean Baker Collection; and
- Heather Lay Collection
- (being collections held in trust for Creswick and District residents)

The Committee also manages opening the museum to the public, undertakes research on request, manages inventory of the collection and acquisition of the new items for the collection, and arranging loan of items from other collections to make them available to the community. The Committee also manages a group of volunteers who staff the Museum and support the work of the Committee.

#### Governance

The Committee was first established in 1997 as a Special Committee of Council under the *Local Government Act 1989*. The current Instrument of Delegation was authorised by the CEO on 24 August 2024. The Committee was established under the *Local Government Act 2020*.

The Committee is required to have at least 7 voting members under their Instrument of Delegation, with a current membership of 6. Overall, the Committee is diligent in operating in line with the terms of their Instrument and regularly files minutes and financial returns as required.

The Committee has approximately \$60,000 in cash reserves, including term deposits.

Relevant Plans and Strategies

Arts and Culture Strategy 2024.

Maintenance and Improvements

Officers have assisted the Museum group, and outlined works which are in progress to assist the Museum Committee. These works pertain to safe egress and storage areas.

Renewal of the security system control panel and minor maintenance items were conducted on request of the Committee.

# Community Engagement

Officers continue to support the Community Asset Committee on the management of the Creswick Hall Collection.

# **Dean Recreation Reserve and Tennis Courts Community Asset Committee**

# Purpose of Committee

The Committee has operational oversight of the Dean Recreation Reserve and Tennis Courts including the soccer pitches, pavilion, toilet block and storage shed, tennis courts, shelter and fencing.

#### Governance

The Committee was first established in 1997 as a Special Committee of Council under the *Local Government Act 1989*. The current Instrument of Delegation was authorised by the CEO on 24 August 2024. The Committee was established under the *Local Government Act 2020*.

The Committee is required to have at least five voting members under their Instrument of Delegation, with a current membership of eight.

The Committee is currently meeting quarterly and have filed minutes for their meetings over the last 12 months. It is noted that at least one office holder of the Committee has dedicated significant personal time supporting the response to bushfires in the region in the latter part of the reporting period, which has naturally impacted the time available to them to address Committee matters in the usual timeframe.

The Committee's annual financial audit for the 2023/2024 financial year has not yet been provided to Council, and the Committee have been reminded of their obligation to obtain this audit at the conclusion of each financial year.

The Committee has approximately \$28,000 in cash reserves, as reported in the Minutes of the Committee's meeting of 17 November 2024; officers note that this amount has not been audited.

# Relevant Plans and Strategies

Nil.

# Maintenance and Improvements

Officers commissioned a condition audit of the Dean Recreation Reserve tennis courts to assist the Dean Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee's advocacy for future external funding opportunities for the renewal of the courts. The Committee have been made aware that any works to the courts are currently

unfunded and would be required to be considered with other Council priorities and long-term financial planning.

Committee members attended a workshop in December 2024 on grant seeking and grant writing, and have received assistance from officers in locating grants to apply for to fund tennis court upgrades.

# Community Engagement

Officers continue to liaise with the Dean Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee to facilitate the exploration of future funding opportunities for the Reserve's existing sport and recreation infrastructure.

# **Drummond Hall and Tennis Courts Community Asset Committee**

# Purpose of Committee

The Committee has operational oversight of the Drummond Hall consisting of Drummond Hall, including timber building, brick toilet block and tennis courts.

#### Governance

The Committee was first established in 1997 as a Special Committee of Council when it was established under the *Local Government Act 1989*. The current Instrument of Delegation was authorised by the CEO on 24 August 2024. The Committee was established under the *Local Government Act 2020*.

The Committee is required to have at least five voting members under their Instrument of Delegation, with a current membership of six. After struggling in the past to attract and retain members, the Committee now has relatively stable membership.

The Committee is diligent in operating in line with the terms of their Instrument and regularly files minutes and financial returns as required.

The Committee has approximately \$3,000 in cash reserves.

Relevant Plans and Strategies

Nil.

Maintenance and Improvements

2023/2024 funded renewal works to the tennis court were completed by 30 June 2024.

Lighting fixtures replaced and plumbing fixture renewal undertaken within the Public Toilet amenities program.

Officers provided grant writing assistance to the Committee in February 2024. The Committee were successful in obtaining a \$5,000 Council community grant for the purchase of AV equipment in April 2024. Officers provided advice on the installation of the AV equipment purchased, and these works were undertaken by a contractor advised to the Committee.

# Community Engagement

Officers continue to liaise with the Drummond Hall Community Asset Committee in relation to the Hall's free public access tennis court facility.

# **Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee**

# Purpose of Committee

The Committee has operational oversight of the Glenlyon Recreation Reserve.

#### Governance

The Committee was first established in 1997 as a Special Committee of Council when established under the *Local Government Act 1989*. The current Instrument of Delegation was authorised by the CEO on 2 August 2024. The Committee was established under the *Local Government Act 2020*.

The Committee is required to have at least five voting members under their Instrument of Delegation, with a current membership of eleven, and due to the Committee's high membership, new appointments to the Committee have been paused until a vacancy arises.

The Committee regularly files minutes and financial returns as required.

The Committee holds approximately \$27,000 in cash reserves.

## Relevant Plans and Strategies

Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Masterplan (2024)

# Maintenance and Improvements

Fencing repair and replacement of the horse yards has been completed. Pump renewal occurred to support the Reserve public toilets in February 2025.

Control of blackberry, thistles and gorse conducted.

Council provided assistance with cleaning and making sure the septic system was ready for the Glenlyon Sports Day, 1 January 2025.

# Community Engagement

Throughout the reporting period, Sport and Recreation officers have liaised with the Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee on the adoption the

Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Masterplan, potential external funding opportunities for reserve enhancement works, club reserve tenancy agreements and progressing the Glenlyon Pavilion development project.

In November 2024, officers commenced the establishment of the Glenlyon Pavilion Development Project Advisory Group (PAG) through an expression of interest process. Proposed membership of the PAG will be considered at the March 2025 Ordinary Council Meeting.

Officers also provide support to the committee regarding major events, such as the NYD Sport Day event, Antiques Swap Meet and Regional Equestrian event annually.

# Lee Medlyn Home of Bottles Community Asset Committee

# Purpose of Committee

The Committee has operational oversight of the Lee Medlyn Home of Bottles consisting of the Former School Building, Factory and Public Toilet Block at 70 Bailey Street, Clunes and the Lee Medlyn Home of Bottles Collection including, but not limited to, the following:

- Lee Medlyn Bottle Collection
- Eberhard Factory (soft drink display), and
- other collectables and displays currently at the Home of Bottles, and as the committee obtains.

The Committee also manages opening the museum to the public, acquisition of the new items for the collection, and arranging loan of items from other collections to make them available to the Hepburn Shire community.

#### Governance

The Committee was first established in 1997 as a Special Committee of Council when established under the *Local Government Act 1989*. The current Instrument of Delegation was authorised by the CEO on 24 August 2024. The Committee was established under the *Local Government Act 2020*.

The Committee is required to have at least seven voting members under their Instrument of Delegation, with a current membership of seven.

The Committee meets monthly and is diligent in operating in line with the terms of their Instrument and regularly files minutes and financial returns as required.

The Committee has approximately \$11,000 in cash reserves.

#### Relevant Plans and Strategies

Arts and Culture Strategy 2024.

# Maintenance and Improvements

Council Officers are continuing to focus on building critical safety works in relation to the Lee Medlyn Complex.

Following concerns raised by the Committee regarding electrical safety, Council has assessed and is working towards repairs within its building maintenance program; noting the works are non-critical but are being prioritised.

Working with the Committee, officers have identified and are pursuing opportunities for plant purchase in relation to grounds and garden maintenance.

In March 2024, the Committee were successful in obtaining a Council Quick Response grant of \$673 for the purchase of a computer for the workroom.

## Community Engagement

Officers are working with the Committee to support management of the collection. This includes assisting the Community Asset Committee on updating their business plan and engaging a graphic artist to help updating their print and online promotional material.

# **Lyonville Hall Community Asset Committee**

# Purpose of Committee

The Committee has operational oversight of the Lyonville Hall consisting of a timber hall, outside toilets and reserve land.

# Governance

The Committee was first established in 1997 as a Special Committee of Council when it was established under the *Local Government Act 1989*. The current Instrument of Delegation was authorised by the CEO on 9 September 2024. The Committee was established under the *Local Government Act 2020*.

The Committee is required to have at least five voting members under their Instrument of Delegation, with a current membership of seven.

The Committee is currently meeting monthly and has regularly filed minutes and financial statements as required.

The Committee held \$110,194.67 in cash reserves in the 2023-2024 audited financial reports. The meeting minutes on 15 January 2025 note of approximately \$85,000 with a note indicating \$50,000 to be brought back in once the Council grant end is fulfilled. Officers note that these balances have not been audited. The Committee has done considerable work in recent years to establish the Hall as a hub for the community, including the operation of a weekly cafe. Proceeds are directed towards

the use and maintenance of the Hall. Officers have worked with the Committee to update governance arrangements as required to minimise risk associated with the operation of the food premise, and support the cafe in continuing, with the responsibility for the cafe now embedded in the Committee's Instrument of Delegation.

Relevant Plans and Strategies

Nil.

Maintenance and Improvements

The Committee has managed or commenced planning for several maintenance issues over the year, including:

- Purchased a good quality piano.
- Upgraded the external lighting and improved lighting near the stage.
- Installed a mobile phone booster to improve phone coverage.
- Received a donated cake display case from Daylesford Bowls Club.
- Applied for and were successful in getting a grant of \$7,057 for a generator for the Hall.
- Built a woodshed to store the free wood provided by Council following the June 2021 storm.
- Progressed planning and approvals for construction of a covered area near the pizza oven.

Council painted the exterior of the Hall and funded two picnic tables in the grounds as well as completed fixture renewal within the public toilet amenities.

## Community Engagement

Officers provided grant writing assistance to the Committee for their Tiny Towns Fund application. In June 2024, the Lyonville Community Asset Committee were successful in receiving \$50,000 in funding from the Tiny Towns program to undertake improvement works to the exterior of the hall and surrounding garden area. Officers continue to provide ongoing assistance to the Committee for reporting and grant acquittal under the auspicing arrangement. Engineering Services officers supported the Lyonville Hall Community Asset Committee to successfully deliver the works funded through the Tiny Towns Fund received.

A 2024/2025 budget allocation was endorsed by Council to undertake renewal works to the Lyonville Hall playspace. The playspace renewal works are in progress and are on track to be completed by 30 June 2025. Officers continue to liaise with the Lyonville Hall Community Asset Committee to undertake the playspace renewal works.

#### **COUNCIL POLICY AND LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS**

#### Council Plan 2021-2025

A healthy, supported, and empowered community

2.2 Increase the availability and accessibility of services in the Hepburn Shire area to support liveability, health, and wellbeing.

A dynamic and responsive Council

5.3 A sustainable and agile organisation with strong corporate governance that supports excellent operations.

Arts and Culture Strategy 2024

Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Masterplan

## FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Most Committees continue to struggle with financial sustainability, and Council is working with Committees to explore options for improving financial sustainability. Council's Community Asset Committees are empowered to manage their own fees and fee waivers under their Instruments of Delegation for facility bookings. As the committees are reliant on hire fees as a source of income, it can be difficult to provide their facilities free of charge. To address this, Council provides the following Community Asset Committees with an annual stipend of \$500:

- Dean Recreation Reserve and Tennis Courts Community Asset Committee
- Drummond Hall Community Asset Committee
- Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committee
- Lyonville Hall Community Asset Committee

#### COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Committees are invited to provide a report to Council, and to attend a session with Councillors to discuss issues affecting their committees. Information from committee minutes has also been included in this report.

#### RISK AND GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

During the preparation of this Annual Report, a number of governance issues were identified, such as:

- Some committees not arranging their annual financial audit in the required timeframe, and
- Some committees not providing copies of their minutes to Council.
- Some committees are inconsistent with their management of asset processes, maintenance, facility bookings and governance of meetings.

Officers have contacted the relevant Committees to remind them of their requirements under their Instrument of Delegation and provide guidance on rectifying these issues.

Officers are also establishing an operations manual to assist all Community Asset Committees for consistent governing of processes and templates.

An internal audit is also underway to review Council's volunteer management; this will also capture and provide recommendations in relation to Community Asset Committees operations.

# **ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY**

There are no sustainability implications associated with this report.

# **GENDER IMPACT ASSESSMENT**

There are no gender equity implications associated with this report.

# 8.5 REVISION OF INSTRUMENTS OF DELEGATION FROM COUNCIL TO THE CEO (S5), AND FROM COUNCIL TO COUNCIL STAFF (S6 AND S18)

Go to 01:24:50 in the meeting recording to view this item.

#### DIRECTOR PERFORMANCE AND TRANSFORMATION

In providing this advice to Council as the Coordinator Governance, I Dannielle Kraak have no interests to disclose in this report.

#### **ATTACHMENTS**

- 1. S5 Instrument of Delegation Council to CEO [8.5.1 4 pages]
- 2. S6 Instrument of Delegation Council to Council Staff [8.5.2 113 pages]
- 3. S18 Instrument of Sub Delegation to Council Staff Environment Protection Act [8.5.3 5 pages]

#### OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION

#### That Council:

- 1. In the exercise of the power conferred by s 11(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act), resolves that:
- a. There be delegated to the person holding the position, or acting in or performing the duties, of Chief Executive Officer the powers, duties and functions set out in the attached Instrument of Delegation to the Chief Executive Officer, subject to the conditions and limitations specified in that Instrument;
- b. The instrument comes into force immediately upon this resolution being made and is to be signed by the Chief Executive Officer and the Mayor;
- On the coming into force of the instrument all previous delegations to the Chief Executive Officer are revoked; and,
- d. The duties and functions set out in the instrument must be performed, and the powers set out in the instruments must be executed, in accordance with any quidelines or policies of Council that it may from time to time adopt.
- 2. In the exercise of the powers conferred by the legislation referred to in the attached instrument of delegation, resolves that:
- a. There be delegated to the members of Council staff holding, acting in or performing the duties of the offices or positions referred to in the attached Instrument of Delegation to members of Council staff, the powers, duties and functions set out in that instrument, subject to the conditions and limitations specified in that Instrument;

- b. The instrument comes into force immediately upon resolution of Council and is to be signed by the Council's Chief Executive Officer and the Mayor;
- c. On the coming into force of the instrument all previous delegations to members of Council staff (other than the Chief Executive Officer) are revoked; and,
- d. The duties and functions set out in the instrument must be performed, and the powers set out in the instruments must be executed, in accordance with any guidelines or policies of Council that it may from time to time adopt.
- 3. In the exercise of the power conferred by s 437(2) of the Environment Protection Act 2017 and the Instrument of Delegation of the Environment Protection Authority under the Act dated 4 June 2021, Council resolves that:
- a. There be delegated to the members of Council staff holding, acting in or performing the duties of the offices or positions referred to in the attached Instrument of Delegation to members of Council staff, the powers, duties and functions set out in that instrument, subject to the conditions and limitations specified in that Instrument;
- b. The instrument comes into force upon resolution of Council and is to be signed by the Council's Chief Executive Officer;
- c. The duties and functions set out in the instrument must be performed, and the powers set out in the instruments must be executed, in accordance with any quidelines or policies of Council that it may from time to time adopt.

# **MOTION**

# That Council:

- 1. In the exercise of the power conferred by s 11(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act), resolves that:
  - a. There be delegated to the person holding the position, or acting in or performing the duties, of Chief Executive Officer the powers, duties and functions set out in the attached Instrument of Delegation to the Chief Executive Officer, subject to the conditions and limitations specified in that Instrument;
  - The instrument comes into force immediately upon this resolution being made and is to be signed by the Chief Executive Officer and the

Mayor;

- c. On the coming into force of the instrument all previous delegations to the Chief Executive Officer are revoked; and,
- d. The duties and functions set out in the instrument must be performed, and the powers set out in the instruments must be executed, in accordance with any guidelines or policies of Council that it may from time to time adopt.
- 2. In the exercise of the powers conferred by the legislation referred to in the attached instrument of delegation, resolves that:
  - a. There be delegated to the members of Council staff holding, acting in or performing the duties of the offices or positions referred to in the attached Instrument of Delegation to members of Council staff, the powers, duties and functions set out in that instrument, subject to the conditions and limitations specified in that Instrument;
  - The instrument comes into force immediately upon resolution of Council and is to be signed by the Council's Chief Executive Officer and the Mayor;
  - c. On the coming into force of the instrument all previous delegations to members of Council staff (other than the Chief Executive Officer) are revoked; and,
  - d. The duties and functions set out in the instrument must be performed, and the powers set out in the instruments must be executed, in accordance with any guidelines or policies of Council that it may from time to time adopt.
- 3. In the exercise of the power conferred by s 437(2) of the Environment Protection Act 2017 and the Instrument of Delegation of the Environment Protection Authority under the Act dated 4 June 2021, Council resolves that:
  - a. There be delegated to the members of Council staff holding, acting in or performing the duties of the offices or positions referred to in the attached Instrument of Delegation to members of Council staff, the

powers, duties and functions set out in that instrument, subject to the conditions and limitations specified in that Instrument;

- b. The instrument comes into force upon resolution of Council and is to be signed by the Council's Chief Executive Officer;
- c. The duties and functions set out in the instrument must be performed, and the powers set out in the instruments must be executed, in accordance with any guidelines or policies of Council that it may from time to time adopt.

**Moved:** Cr Shirley Cornish **Seconded:** Cr Pat Hockey

Carried

Voted for: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don

Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood

Voted against: Nil Abstained: Nil

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Instruments of Delegation represent the formal delegation of powers by Council under the *Local Government Act 2020* (the Act) and enable the business of Council to be carried out efficiently and in line with Council approved policies.

The previous Instrument of Delegation to the CEO (S5), Instrument of Sub-Delegation under the Environment Protection Act (S18) were executed on 16 September 2024, and the Instrument of Delegation to Members of Council Staff (S6) was executed on 18 December 2024.

The revised instruments reflect staffing changes in the organisation, along with legislative changes and amendments.

These Instruments will be authorised by the CEO and the Mayor once the above Instruments have been considered by Council.

### **BACKGROUND**

Instruments of Delegation represent the formal delegation of powers by Council. Section 11(1)(b) of the *Local Government Act 2020* (the Act) provides for a Council to delegate powers, duties and functions to its CEO under the Act or any other Act, other than certain specified powers.

Delegations enable the business of Council to be carried out effectively, in line with Council approved policies and are assigned to positions within Council, rather than to

staff individually. When executing powers under delegation, staff are also limited and bound by Council policies and procedures.

Section 11 of the Act specifies a number of powers, duties and functions that must be specified through Instruments of Delegation, along with a number of exclusions to what can be delegated to the CEO:

- (1) A Council may by instrument of delegation delegate to—
  - (a) the members of a delegated committee; or
  - (b) the Chief Executive Officer— any power, duty or function of a Council under this Act or any other Act other than a power, duty or function specified in subsection (2).
- (2) The following are specified for the purposes of subsection (1)—
  - (a) the power of delegation;
  - (b) the power to elect a Mayor or Deputy Mayor;
  - (c) the power to grant a reasonable request for leave under section 35;
  - (d) subject to subsection (3), the power to appoint the Chief Executive Officer, whether on a permanent or acting basis;
  - (e) the power to make any decision in relation to the employment, dismissal or removal of the Chief Executive Officer;
  - (f) the power to approve or amend the Council Plan;
  - (g) the power to adopt or amend any policy that the Council is required to adopt under this Act;
  - (h) the power to adopt or amend the Governance Rules;
  - (i) the power to appoint the chair or the members to a delegated committee;
  - (j) the power to make, amend or revoke a local law;
  - (k) the power to approve the budget or revised budget;
  - (I) the power to borrow money;
  - (m) subject to section 181H(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1989, the power to declare general rates, municipal charges, service rates and charges and special rates and charges;
  - (n) any power, duty or function prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this subsection.

Council subscribes to the Maddocks Authorisations and Delegations Service, which provides advice regarding legislative amendments and template instruments which are then tailored to organisational requirements. Maddocks have informed Council about the legislative changes that affect the powers, duties and functions of Council.

The following table provides an overview of Council's Instruments of Delegation, what powers are delegated, and what approval is required:

# **Delegation from Council**

Require resolution of Council

**Schedule 5** – Delegation from Council to the CEO under the *Local Government Act* 2020

Includes delegations required and excluded under the Local Government Act 2020

Schedule 6 – Delegation from Council to Council Staff under various Acts

Powers are delegated direct to officers under the following Acts:

- Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003
- Domestic Animals Act 1994
- Environment Protection Act 1970
- Food Act 1984
- Heritage Act 2017
- Local Government Act 1989
- Local Government Act 2020
- Planning and Environment Act 1987
- Residential Tenancies Act 1997
- Road Management Act 2004
- Cemeteries and Crematoria Regulations 2015
- Planning and Environment Regulations 2015
- Planning and Environment (Fees) Regulations 2016
- Residential Tenancies (Caravan Parks and Movable Dwellings Registration and Standards) Regulations 2024
- Road Management (General) Regulations 2016
- Road Management (Works and Infrastructure) Regulations 2015

**Schedule 18** - Instrument of Delegation Environment Protection Authority powers from Council to members of Council staff

Allows authorised officer to exercise powers held by the Environment Protection Authority under the Environment Protection Act 2017, specifically relating to:

- onsite wastewater management systems with a design or actual flow rate of sewage not exceeding 5000 litres on any day; and
- noise from the construction, demolition or removal of residential premises.

## **Delegation from the CEO**

To be determined by the CEO

Schedule 7 – Sub-delegation from the CEO to Council Staff under various Acts

Powers, as delegated to the CEO by Council or under various Acts, are subdelegated to Council Staff under various Acts and through administrative powers.

**Schedule 13** – delegation directly from the CEO to Council Staff under various Acts

**Schedule 14** – delegation from the CEO to Council Staff related to VicSmart applications

**Schedule 15** – authorisation from the CEO to Council Staff related to Freedom of Information Processing

**Schedule 16** – delegation from the CEO to Council Staff related to bushfire reconstruction

**Schedule 17** – authorisation from the CEO to Council Staff related to the *Oaths and Affirmation Act 2018* 

#### **KEY ISSUES**

# Instrument of Delegation to Chief Executive Officer (S5) – to be adopted by Council

There are no legislative changes advised by Maddocks for this instrument. The Instrument is based upon the Maddocks template, and continues the delegations approved in September 2024.

## Instrument of Delegation to Members of Staff (S6) – to be adopted by Council

The revised Instrument of Delegation to Members of Council staff is based upon the previous Instrument considered by Council in December 2024. This revision has also been updated to include recent position changes across the organisation.

The Instrument has been revised incorporating recent legislative changes and to provide further clarity on officer powers.

Amendments to the delegated powers, duties and functions in the revised Instrument of Delegation to Members of Council Staff are largely administrative in nature and will not result in any significant changes to current practices.

The revised instrument is attached. In summary, the legislative changes to the revised Instrument of Delegation are:

The following changes have been made to the S6:

 Inserted section 12(2)(b) of the Road Management Act 2004 to provide for Council to provide consent to the Head, Transport for Victoria to discontinue a road or part of a road;

- Removed the limitation for the powers in sections 19FA(1) and 19FA(3)(a)-(c)
  of the Food Act 1984 being delegated "only in relation to temporary food
  premises or mobile food premises";
- At the Council Meeting in December 2024, Council amended the planning delegations in accordance with s 61(1) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, this has now been included within s73 and s74 delegations allowing provisions to also apply to 'amendments to planning applications'; and
- Typographical errors.

# Instrument of Sub-Delegation to Members of Staff under the Environment Protection Act (S18) – to be adopted by Council

This Instrument allows authorised officers to exercise powers held by the Environment Protection Authority under the Environment Protection Act 2017, specifically relating to:

- Onsite wastewater management systems with a design or actual flow rate of sewage not exceeding 5000 litres on any day; and
- Noise from the construction, demolition or removal of residential premises.

There are no legislative changes to this Instrument and the only amendments are to officer titles.

## **COUNCIL POLICY AND LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS**

Council Plan 2021-2025

A dynamic and responsive Council

5.3 A sustainable and agile organisation with strong corporate governance that supports excellent operations

Amendments to the delegated powers, duties, and functions in the revised Instruments are administrative in nature and will not result in any significant changes to current practices.

It is noted that the instruments provide that a power, duty, or function may only be exercised in accordance with adopted policies.

#### FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

# **COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT**

The revised Instruments of Delegation have been prepared based on current advice provided by Council's solicitor Maddocks.

Consultation has occurred relevant staff during the preparation of the revised Instruments of Delegation to ensure that appropriate staff delegates have been nominated.

#### RISK AND GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

Reviewing Council's delegations ensures Council continues to comply with its obligations under various Acts and Regulations and enables the business of Council to be carried out efficiently.

If the Council did not delegate duties, powers, and functions to members of Council staff and enable the CEO to do the same, Council would not be able to manage the volume of work and decisions that are effectively carried out by officers every day.

Appropriate conferring of powers to positions within Council also enables decisions that are made on a day-to-day basis to be compliant and reduce the opportunity to be challenged from an authorising environment perspective.

#### **ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY**

There are no sustainability implications associated with this report.

#### GENDER IMPACT ASSESSMENT

There are no gender equity implications associated with this report.

# 8.6 INSTRUMENTS OF APPOINTMENT TO AUTHORISED OFFICERS UNDER THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 & ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION ACT 2017

Go to 01:26:22 in the meeting recording to view this item.

#### DIRECTOR PERFORMANCE AND TRANSFORMATION

In providing this advice to Council as the Coordinator Governance, I Dannielle Kraak have no interests to disclose in this report.

#### **ATTACHMENTS**

- 1. S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation Planning and Environment Act [8.6.1 1 page]
- 2. S11B Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation Environment Protection Act [8.6.2 1 page]

#### OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- 1. In the exercise of the powers conferred by s 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, resolves that:
- a. The members of Council staff referred to in the instrument attached be appointed and authorised as set out in the instrument.
- b. The instrument comes into force immediately it is signed by Council's Chief Executive Officer, and remains in force until Council determines to vary or revoke it.
- 2. In the exercise of the power conferred by s 242(2) of the Environment Protection Act 2017 and the Instrument of Delegation of the Environment Protection Authority under the Act dated 4 June 2021, resolves that:
- a. The members of Council staff referred to in the instrument attached be appointed and authorised as set out in the instrument.
- b. The instrument comes into force immediately it is signed by Council's Chief Executive Officer, and remains in force until Council determines to vary or revoke it.

### **MOTION**

That Council:

1. In the exercise of the powers conferred by s 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, resolves that:

- a. The members of Council staff referred to in the instrument attached be appointed and authorised as set out in the instrument.
- b. The instrument comes into force immediately it is signed by Council's Chief Executive Officer, and remains in force until Council determines to vary or revoke it.
- 2. In the exercise of the power conferred by s 242(2) of the Environment Protection Act 2017 and the Instrument of Delegation of the Environment Protection Authority under the Act dated 4 June 2021, resolves that:
  - a. The members of Council staff referred to in the instrument attached be appointed and authorised as set out in the instrument.
  - b. The instrument comes into force immediately it is signed by Council's Chief Executive Officer, and remains in force until Council determines to vary or revoke it.

Moved: Cr Pat Hockey Seconded: Cr Brian Hood

**Carried** 

**Voted for:** Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don

Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood

Voted against: Nil Abstained: Nil

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The appointment of authorised officers enables appropriate staff within the organisation to administer and enforce various Acts, Regulations or Council local laws in accordance with the powers granted to them under legislation or a local law.

This instrument is being updated to reflect staffing changes and administrative changes to the wording to align with section 147(4) of the *Planning and Environment Act 1987*.

# **BACKGROUND**

Instruments of Appointment and Authorisation empower relevant staff to exercise the powers granted to authorised officers by legislation, regulations or a local law.

The Instruments of Appointment and Authorisation prepared for Council's consideration are based on advice from the Maddocks Authorisations and Delegations Service.

Whilst the appointment and authorisation of authorised officers under other relevant legislation is executed by the Chief Executive Officer under delegation, Maddocks recommend that officers enforcing the *Planning and Environment Act* 1987 and the *Environment Protection Act* 2017 be authorised by Council resolution.

Maddocks recommends that Council to execute the appointment and authorisation of authorised under the *Planning and Environment Act 1987* and the *Environment Protection Act 2017* because these Acts place limitations on what powers can be subdelegated, so by delegating direct from Council, the risk of decisions being challenged on the basis that the delegation was not appropriate is mitigated.

The instruments have been prepared following consultation with the internal departments of Council and have been recently updated to reflect staffing changes. Powers are delegated to individuals, not positions.

The Instruments of Appointment to Authorised Officers that do not relate to the *Planning and Environment Act 1987* and the *Environment Protection Act 2017* will be executed by the Chief Executive Officer as per legislation.

#### **KEY ISSUES**

# Planning and Environment Act 1987

There are no legislative changes to the authorisation under the *Planning and Environment Act 1987*. The instrument has been updated in line with staff appointments.

# **Environment Protection Act 2017**

There are no legislative changes to the authorisation under the *Environment Protection Act 2017*. The instrument has been updated in line with staff appointments.

# **COUNCIL POLICY AND LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS**

Council Plan 2021-2025

A dynamic and responsive Council

5.3 A sustainable and agile organisation with strong corporate governance that supports excellent operations

#### FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

### COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Council subscribes to the Maddocks Authorisations and Delegations Service, and relevant advice has been considered in the preparation of this report.

For transparency purposes, Council is required to prepare a register of Instruments of Appointment to Authorised Officers and Delegations on Council's website.

# **RISK AND GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS**

Instruments of authorisations allow the business of Council to continue and operate effectively.

## **ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY**

There are no sustainability implications associated with this report.

## **GENDER IMPACT ASSESSMENT**

There are no gender equity implications associated with this report.

# 9 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS

Go to 01:27:00 in the meeting recording to view this item.

Nil.

#### 10 COUNCILLOR AND CEO REPORTS

#### 10.1 MAYOR'S REPORT

Go to 01:29:00 in the meeting recording to view this item.

#### **Councillor Don Henderson**

Busy times as we are working on all fronts with the 4 year Council Plan, budget as well as dealing with strategies for the next ten years and implementing the structure plans for our towns that are long overdue.

Recently Cr Hewitt and myself joined Minister Mary – Anne Thomas to turn on new lighting at Victoria Park Daylesford to ensure proper lighting for football and netball areas. The club and users were appreciative that the State Government has seen the benefit to the community in our recreational facilities.

Earlier this month The Member for Ripon and myself organized a visit by police minister Anthony Carbines to Creswick to discuss policing in our rea. The discussions included Clunes and in fact the whole of the shire. We were joined by police from Bacchus Marsh headquarters as well. After meeting with some members of the public to hear of frustrations and experiences we met with local police to discuss what was required. The meeting was very fruitful and the minister was able to see just what it takes to resource a region such as ours. I will give an update but some measures are already in the pipeline.

We also met with Minister Nick Staikos and high on the agenda was the effect of the new emergency services levy on ratepayers and more particularly on our farming community who at this time are experiencing drought conditions. In my view this system is unworkable and needs to be revisited. We were also able to illustrate the difficulty that small rural shires are facing with rising costs and the cost shifting by governments. We have also corresponded with the treasurer on these matters.

Anzac Day this year saw big crowds turn out and although some of our returned service people are now ageing it was great to see so many younger people and children taking part and appreciating the sacrifices made by those who gave their lives or have suffered life long illnesses and trauma. I was able to attend the Dawn Service and breakfast and later the main service as well as the service at Kingston.

The Block have been busy around town and recent visits to plant a new tree in the Avenue with Daylesford RSL and also to the bathroom challenge and celebration of the 130<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the Hepburn Bath house opened my eyes as I noted that there were approximately 200 people involved and was particularly pleased to see local trades and others being employed. Certainly a great and much needed boost to local businesses.

New residents were welcomed to our shire at an event where they were met by community and emergency services people.

Cresfest was a fantastic event this year with something for everybody and the town of Creswick and many local venues were showcased. Credit to the organisers and volunteers.

Of particular interest was a visit to St Augustines Parish school to explain the role of local government to very interested students.

I have also taken the time to travel many of our gravel roads to get a first hand idea of the conditions of the roads and drainage. One student asked how they could get an electronic screen for the local footy club. Perhaps a big TV screen

An election pledge of \$1.2 m shared between Creswick and Daylesford Soccer Clubs was announced by Member for Ballarat. Catherine King. The Liberal candidate cancelled a scheduled meeting and there were no other pledges for our shire by any other candidates to date.

## 10.2 COUNCILLOR REPORTS

# **Councillor Pat Hockey**

April was a massive month for me signaling that the year had really kicked off. At one point I had a run of nine days with events and duties on every one of them, including several days in chambers. As a new Councillor there is constantly much to reflect on and I count myself very fortunate to not be working in a full-time job as well. The role now is so complex and multi-faceted that it really does constantly demand more and more attention.

Highlights of the month included a talk at half-time at the Clunes football. Locals have been thrilled to see two consecutive wins for Clunes in both the football and the netball for the start of the season. Cresfest was a huge success after early concerns about ticket sales; no doubt a reflection of the cost of living challenges we are all dealing with.

I was interested to see representatives of most of the Asset Committees that the council works with address the full Council and I see a very positive path forward with current allocations of Councillors to these committees.

Many of the engagements for the month were of a formal nature; briefings and meetings in anticipation of decisions that are set to come before Council, or that Councillors are having input towards a final form that they will decide upon. Much of this is very weighty and consequential in nature and requires a considerable amount of private time reading and also reflection and discussion with the community.

As always I encourage folk to reach out for a friendly chat.

#### **Councillor Brian Hood**

Presented a verbal report.

## **Councillor Tony Clark**

The Month of April has been busy with both significant council and personal activity.

April has seen the meeting of the Disability Advisory Committee where several issues were discussed including:

- The exploration of a community education campaign regarding the challenges
  of overgrown footpaths and walkways around shopping strips with a focus on
  social media
- 2. Review of the Terms of Reference to align membership terms
- 3. Received reports on major council projects including the Strategic Plan and the Daylesford Town Hall Hub.
- 4. Organized a special meeting to provide input into the 2025-2028 Strategic Plan

I also want to extend my sincere thanks to the community members who have participated in the Deliberative Panel. Their view and suggestions will form a key part of our decision-making process. It was great to thank people personally over lunch and feel the tangible positivity in the group.

ANZAC Day in Creswick was another major success. It was a privilege to take part in the Dawn Service, March, and Service on the 25 April. I want to extend my congratulations to the entire community particularly the RSL, Scouts, local Primary Schools and many local community members who helped in direct organizing to making wreaths.

There have been many council briefings and planning sessions over the month as we move towards a draft plan. There are many challenges moving forward including establishing the platform for long term financial sustainability, creation of clear and measurable indicators, challenging planning decisions and holding respectful and constructive conversations with our community.

# **Councillor Shirley Cornish**

Presented a verbal report.

# **Councillor Tim Drylie**

April has been a month of significant activity and reflection.

First, I want to again acknowledge the release of the Hepburn Hub at The Rex report. As elected Councillors, we have expressed our regret this month for the harm this project has caused, and I am too sorry. We understand the emotions it has stirred—frustration, anger, sadness—and remain committed to working with our community to heal, recover, and rebuild trust.

I also attended CresFest, a huge success a fourth time around that brought a diverse range of people together for music, dance and celebration and a boost to our local economy and general wellbeing - despite cost-of-living pressures – bucking the festival downward trend.

I also attended the visit to The Block site. While it is positive to see the region showcased nationally and local trades supported, we must remain focused on addressing the affordable housing crisis. High-end developments often risk widening the gap between those who can and cannot afford to live locally, and I am committed to continuing to advocate for more inclusive, affordable housing options that truly meet community needs.

At a governance level, I participated in meetings with the Essential Services Commission regarding our rate variation application. Hepburn is statistically a low-rating Shire, and modest increases are necessary to sustain vital services and avoid deeper cuts. It's important that we continue to have an honest conversation about what it takes to equitably support the diversity of services and community spaces we all rely on.

Community engagement remains a key priority. I attended the Listening Post in Daylesford and was encouraged by those who attended, though I note we must continue to improve how we connect and listen meaningfully. I also attended the final session of our Deliberative Engagement Panel. I sincerely thank the panel

participants for their contributions, despite the challenges along the way. I share concerns about the loss of over half of the members and the circumstances leading to it. Rebuilding trust will be critical as we finalise our Council Plan.

It was also heartening to hear directly from Asset Committee representatives recently and read their annual reports. Their advocacy for timely resolutions and stronger support reflects a healthy relationship between Council and community volunteers that I am determined to nurture.

I have also participated in Council Plan and strategic planning workshops, a special Council meeting, site visits including the Bathhouse renovations, and attended the Western Renewables Link community meeting, continuing to represent community interests.

Finally, while I strongly appreciate the need to protect staff and Councillors from abuse of a mostly vitriolic and corrosive few, I have concerns about disabling public comments on Facebook. We must remain open to feedback, even when it is challenging, and find better ways to foster constructive dialogue rather than closing channels of communication.

More broadly, I remain deeply concerned about ongoing habitat destruction in places like the Wombat Forest. Several environmental groups have raised the alarm about the loss of critical habitat under so-called 'storm clean-up' operations, with little obvious oversight. We must be vigilant in protecting our biodiversity and more needs to be done.

## **Councillor Lesley Hewitt**

Councillors focus during April has been to work on the 2025-2028 Council Plan and to develop the 2025-2026 budget. These documents will come to the Special Council meeting on 13 May 2025 for endorsement to be released for public feedback. Daylesford Town Hall draft plans which include a new library.

A list of my Council diary activities is listed below, and I draw your attention to the Project Advisory Group (PAG) for the Daylesford Town Hall. Members of the PAG have met to review and consider the feedback from the community consultation phase. The PAG members have carefully considered the feedback and will be progressing the draft plans further based on this feedback. I make the point again that this first stage is budgeted for in the 2024-2025 budget, but that any further project development is dependent on further funds being budgeted for and any construction will be dependent on grant funding. I again make the point that one of the takeaways from the failed Rex project is the importance of undertaking proper planning initially.

I attended 4 ANZAC day services in the Shire – at Drummond, Hepburn Springs, Eganstown and Daylesford. I acknowledge the work that was done by those members of the Daylesford RSL and the surrounding communities in organizing the services which were all well-attended. I want to particularly call out the Drummond Hall Committee for organizing the Drummond service. This was only the second time that the service has been held at Drummond and the committee members deserve thanks for stepping up to provide this for their community. I also want to acknowledge the work of John Menadue and Keith Pyers and thank them for their work in organizing the Eganstown service for the last 20 years. It is greatly appreciated. Both have stepped down from this and an Eganstown resident, Darren McColl has stepped up to take on this role. Lyn Strates and Lee Manning have also taken over from Carolyn Menadue to cook the ANZAC biscuits that are served at the end of the services. It's heartening to see community members take responsibility to ensure that community traditions are maintained.

Finally, I had occasion to attend the Daylesford Hospital Urgent Care facility yesterday. I received excellent care from the doctor and nurse on duty there and I thank them for that. I did however take note, in my role as the Chair of the Daylesford Hospital Upgrade Community Committee of the poor physical facilities that impacted on the care that the 7 or 8 patients that were there when I was received. It was a stark reminder of the reality that the total amount spent on health care per head of population by all levels of government is significantly less for those of us in rural or regional areas than in metropolitan areas. This is an equity issue that should concern all of us living in rural areas, regardless of own good health or not.

A list of my diary activities is below.

# **Councillor Diary Activities**

Block site visit – 21/3/25

Listing Post Daylesford – 27/3/25

Meeting Minister Local Government – 28/3/25

Creswick New Residents Welcome - 29/3/25

Councillor Council Plan and Financial Vision Workshop – 31/3/25, 8/4/25, 24/4/25

Meeting with Essential Services Commission – 1/4/25

Special Council Meeting – 3/4/25

CEO Employment and Remuneration Committee – 7/4/25

Councillor Briefing - 24/3/25; 7/4/25; 14/4/25

All Councillor meeting with Wendy Lovell – 7/4/25

Daylesford Hospital Upgrade Community Committee meeting Kate Redwood, Lesley Hewitt with Wendy Lovell -7/4/25

Western Renewables Link Community Catch Up - 7/4/25

Mates meeting re Blue Trees – Mayor and community reps – 11/4/25

Deliberative Engagement panel thank you lunch – 13/4/25

Victorian Goldfields World Heritage Bid Daylesford - 15/4/25

Glenlyon Recreation Reserve Management Committee meeting – 16/4/25

Easter 18-21 April 2025

Daylesford Community Facilities Project Advisory Group Meeting – 22/4/25

ANZAC Day services – 25/4/25 – Drummond, Hepburn Springs. Eganstown, Daylesford

Resident meeting re Ajaz Rd Transfer station - 28/4/25

## **RECOMMENDATION**

That Council receives and notes the Mayor's and Councillors' reports.

#### **MOTION**

That Council receives and notes the Mayor's and Councillors' Reports.

Moved: Cr Brian Hood

Seconded: Cr Shirley Cornish

**Carried** 

Voted for: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don

Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood

Voted against: Nil Abstained: Nil

#### 10.3 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT

Go to 01:44:30 in the meeting recording to view this item.

The Chief Executive Officer Report informs Council and the community of current issues, initiatives and projects undertaken across Council.

## **CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER UPDATE**

Following last month's Council meeting, the current elected Councillor group made a statement about the leaked report on the Hepburn Hub at the Rex, on behalf of Council.

"The current elected Councillor group would like to express our regret to our community of Hepburn Shire for the negative impact that the Hepburn Hub at The Rex project has had on us all. Council also acknowledges that due to the report's release, our community will be feeling a range of emotions; frustration, anger, sadness, discontent and discomfort. Council has been calling for the finalisation and release of the LGI report for many years, to bring closure to the situation and allow our community to move forward."

Council is working with the relevant stakeholders to bring closure to and recover from this incident and will continue to advocate for the community and their interests now and into the future.

On Friday 21 March, Councillors, Executive Leadership Team and our Communications team toured The Block site and were able to get a sneak preview of these fantastic houses. While still in the early stages of construction, the look, feel and vibe around the place was very Daylesford.

We're excited to have The Block shining a light on our iconic region and Scotty Cam (co-host of the show) noted the warmth and welcoming nature of our towns. The team mentioned they're enjoying shopping and dining locally.



Council hosted a Listening Post in Daylesford on 27 March which several residents attended to talk about what matters to them. Our next Listening Post will be in Trentham on Saturday 17 May (Trentham Market), 10 am to 12 pm.

The Greater Ballarat Alliance of Councils (GBAC) committee meet regularly, with member councils sharing the responsibility to host meetings. On Friday 28 March, Hepburn hosted the meeting in the Council Chamber. Following the GBAC meeting, Councillors, Director Infrastructure and Delivery and I met with Minister for Local Government Nick Staikos and Minister Mary-Anne Thomas to discuss a range of issues facing Local Government.

In conjunction with our rate variation application to the Essential Services Commission, Council were invited to meet with the Essential Services Commission to further discuss our application. This is the first time this opportunity has been provided, and it was a valuable opportunity.

On Thursday 17 April, with the help of Mary-Anne Thomas MP we switched on the lights at Victoria Park, where the AFL oval lighting was upgraded to 100 lux level LED (30 metres high) and the netball court lighting to 200 lux level LED (10 metres high) (competition standards).

The Daylesford Football and Netball Sports Lighting upgrade project was made possible by \$250,000 funding through the Victorian Government's 2023-2024 Country Football and Netball Program, and contributions from Daylesford Football Netball Club and Council.

The project was delivered through a partnership between the Sport and Recreation Victoria, Council, Daylesford Football Netball Club and support from AFL Victoria and Netball Victoria.

The upgrade of the oval and netball court sports lighting will play a vital role in our community with the aim of increasing programming opportunities, prioritising player safety, and contributing to the sustainability of the reserve.



You may have noticed a new speed zone of 40 km/hr has been introduced in the central business district of Daylesford to enhance safety for road users and pedestrians.



Council listened to the numerous calls for reduced speeds in Daylesford and collaborated with the Department of Transport and Planning to establish a safer speed zone. The new speed zone in Daylesford covers the central business district and areas with high pedestrian activity, including both local and state-controlled roads.

We will continue to look at speed limits across the Shire.

The Council Plan 2025-2029 is being developed from a range of contributions, including a Deliberative Engagement Panel made up of community members from across the Shire.

The wider community have been able to have their say on the Plan's priorities for our services and amenities via a survey which closes Sunday (<u>Hepburn Together 2025-29</u> - Community survey | Hepburn Together 2025 - 2029 | Participate Hepburn).

Councillors and officers have been busy putting together the Draft Council Plan and Budget and this will be available at our Special Council Meeting on 13 May, for further community review.

Council has several grant opportunities open until 29 April 2025 to support community groups:

- Quick Response Grants
- Event Grants
- Round 2 Community Grants

If you have a community-based project or initiative that enhances the social, environmental and economic life of the Shire, I encourage you to apply for Round 2 of the Community Grants Program.

With the Federal election just around the corner on 3 May, Catherine King MP has pledged an investment of \$1.2 million towards upgrading soccer facilities in Creswick and Daylesford.

This election commitment will help fund upgrades at Victoria Park in Daylesford and Doug Lindsay Recreation Reserve in Creswick and will cater for the significant growth in women and girls' participation in soccer in Hepburn Shire.

We will share election commitments that directly impact the Shire as they are announced.

Pet registration notices were sent at the start of the month, and you'll have a little longer to pay this year with a due date of Saturday 10 May.

RSLs and community groups across the Shire coordinated ANZAC Day services across the Shire which were attended by Council representatives.

Some of the meetings I have attended include:

- Joint State/Local Government Monthly CEO Forum
- MAV CEO Connect weekly meetings
- Executive Leadership Team weekly meetings
- Greater Ballarat Alliance of Councils CEOs meeting
- Council Plan workshop with Councillors
- Loddon Campaspe Group of Council's Regional Forum
- Councillor Briefings
- Special Council Meeting
- Tourism Midwest Victoria Board meeting

- Central Highlands Regional Partnerships Quarterly meeting
- Rural Councils Victoria (RCV) Sub Committee meeting
- Ministerial opening of Victoria Park Daylesford lighting
- Hepburn Bathhouse & Spa 130th Anniversary and reveal of Block challenge room makeovers

Over recent weeks we have seen an increase in poor behaviour by community members towards staff and Councillors, who continue to work hard to deliver services and projects for the benefit of the community. Offensive, inappropriate or hateful language will not be tolerated. Threats made to staff will not be taken lightly.

Regrettably, from 17 April we will be disabling comments on our corporate Facebook page for a trial period of 6 months. There are multiple ways residents and community members can constructively give their feedback to Council:

- Visit our Contact us page to phone, email or raise a request with Council.
- Visit our <u>Participate Hepburn website</u> to submit feedback to open projects.
- Submit a question or address Council at any Ordinary Meeting of Council, information can be found on our <u>Public Participation webpage</u>.

#### RECOMMENDATION

That Council receives and notes the Chief Executive Officer's Report for May 2025.

#### **MOTION**

That Council receives and notes the Chief Executive Officer's Report for May 2025.

**Moved:** Cr Brian Hood **Seconded:** Cr Tony Clark

**Carried** 

Voted for: Cr Tony Clark, Cr Shirley Cornish, Cr Tim Drylie, Cr Lesley Hewitt, Cr Don

Henderson, Cr Pat Hockey and Cr Brian Hood

Voted against: Nil Abstained: Nil

# 11 CLOSE OF MEETING

The Meeting closed at 7:48pm.